ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE No. 187, June 1992

THE MAASTRICHT WAY TO EMU

MICHELE FRATIANNI JÜRGEN VON HAGEN AND CHRISTOPHER WALLER



INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
PRINCETON, NEW JERSEY

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE are published by the International Finance Section of the Department of Economics of Princeton University. The Section sponsors this series of publications, but the opinions expressed are those of the authors. The Section welcomes the submission of manuscripts for publication in this and its other series. Please see the Notice to Contributors at the back of this Essay.

The authors of this Essay are Michele Fratianni, Jürgen von Hagen, and Christopher Waller. Michele Fratianni is Professor of Business Economics and Public Policy at the Graduate School of Business, Indiana University, a Director of the International Trade and Financial Association, and Managing Editor of *Open Economics Review*. He has written extensively on monetary economics and international financial markets and is the author of *One Money for Europe* (1978) and coauthor, with Jürgen von Hagen, of "The European Monetary System Ten Years After" (1990) and *The European Monetary System and European Monetary Union* (1992).

Jürgen von Hagen is Professor of Economics at the University of Mannheim, Adjunct Professor of Business Economics and Public Policy at the Graduate School of Business, Indiana University, and a Research Fellow of the Centre of Economic Policy Research, London. His numerous writings on international monetary issues include, in addition to the above, "Monetary Policy Coordination in the EMS" (1992).

Christopher Waller is Associate Professor of Economics at Indiana University. His writings on the politics of monetary policy and the design of central-banking institutions include "Monetary Policy Games and Central Bank Politics" (1989), "A Bargaining Model of Partisan Appointments to the Central Bank" (1992), and "The Choice of a Conservative Central Banker in a Multi-Sector Economy" (1992).

GIUSEPPE BERTOLA, Acting Director International Finance Section

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE No. 187, June 1992

THE MAASTRICHT WAY TO EMU

MICHELE FRATIANNI JÜRGEN VON HAGEN AND CHRISTOPHER WALLER



INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS
PRINCETON UNIVERSITY
PRINCETON, NEW JERSEY

INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION EDITORIAL STAFF

Peter B. Kenen, Director (on leave)
Giuseppe Bertola, Acting Director
Margaret B. Riccardi, Editor
Lillian Spais, Editorial Aide
Lalitha H. Chandra, Subscriptions and Orders

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Fratianni, Michele

The Maastricht way to ${\rm EMU}$ / by Michele Fratianni, Jürgen von Hagen, and Christopher Waller

p. cm.—(Essays in international finance, ISSN 0071-142X ; no. 187) Includes bibliographical references.

ISBN 0-88165-094-3 (pbk.) : \$6.50

1. European Monetary System (Organization) 2. Monetary policy—European Economic Community countries 3. Banks and banking, Central—European Economic Community countries. I. von Hagen, Jürgen. II. Waller, Christopher. III. Title. IV. Series.

HG136.P7 no. 187 [HG930.5] 332.4'566'094—dc20

92-21840 CIP

Copyright © 1992 by International Finance Section, Department of Economics, Princeton University.

All rights reserved. Except for brief quotations embodied in critical articles and reviews, no part of this publication may be reproduced in any form or by any means, including photocopy, without written permission from the publisher.

Printed in the United States of America by Princeton University Press at Princeton, New Jersey

International Standard Serial Number: 0071-142X International Standard Book Number: 0-88165-094-3 Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 92-21840

CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	1
	From the Delors Report to the Maastricht Accord	2
	The Delors Strategy: Parallelism, Gradualism, and the European Monetary System	3
	The British Reaction: Gradualism and Currency Competition	6 7
	The Maastricht Accord: Gradualism and Conditionality	7
2	THE MAASTRICHT WAY TO EMU: AN EVALUATION	10
	Credibility	10
	Flexibility	14
	Effective Institution Building	16
	Phasing Out the Existing Monetary Regime	19
	The Two-Tier EMS: A Strategy for Implementing the	
	Maastricht Accord	24
3	THE EUROPEAN CENTRAL BANK	28
	Central-Bank Organization	29
	The Objective of the Central Bank	33
	Central-Bank Independence	33
	The Excessive-Deficit Procedure	38
4	THE ECB: A EUROPEAN BUNDESBANK?	41
	REFERENCES	42

LIST OF TABLES

1	Convergence Indicators	22
2	The Proposed European Central Bank Compared to the Bundesbank	30

THE MAASTRICHT WAY TO EMU

1 Introduction

For more than thirty years, the European Community (EC) has spent considerable time, effort, and political capital in building a monetary union. This endeavor has now culminated in a revision of the Treaty of Rome, adopted in December 1991 by the European heads of state and government meeting in Maastricht (European Council, 1991). The revision makes the European monetary union one of the official goals of the Community, devises a strategy to achieve it, and lays out the institutional framework by which it will be regulated.

Although there are surely economic benefits to be expected from a monetary union,¹ the main driving force for its resurgence remains the quest for the political integration of Europe.² The European Council emphasized the importance of linking monetary and political unification at its October 1990 Summit in Rome:

Intergovernmental Conferences on Political Union and Economic and Monetary Union will open in Rome on 15 December 1990. . . . The European Council confirms that the work of the two Conferences will proceed

We thank the Research Department of the International Monetary Fund and the Economy of European Integration Research Group at the University of California at Berkeley for providing a healthy climate for discussion of the issues addressed in this essay and for financial support of the research leading to its writing. An earlier version of the essay was presented at the Milan Conference on Monetary Policy in Phase Two of EMU, organized by Bocconi University and the Centre for European Policy Research.

¹ The Commission of the European Communities (1990) estimates the economic benefits from a single currency in the EC to be about 10 percent of Community real gross national product (GNP), half a percent of which is from reduced transactions cost and the remainder from greater monetary stability and the elimination of exchange risk. Minford, Rastogi, and Hughes Hallett (1991) rightly point out that most of the benefits can be achieved equally well without monetary union, as they require monetary discipline rather than monetary union.

² The dominance of political considerations in the quest for European monetary integration was stressed long ago by Triffin (1960). See von Hagen (1991) and Fratianni and von Hagen (1992, chap. 3) for a historical review of that quest, and Tyrie (1990) on the current political motivations behind EMU.

in parallel and should be concluded rapidly and at the same time. The results will be submitted for ratification simultaneously with the objective of ratification before the end of 1992. (European Council, 1990, p. 10)

The main objections to monetary union have also been largely political (see, for example, Bank of England, 1990a and b). Although the forces in favor of monetary union have now prevailed, there remain important questions about the optimal design of its institutions and the strategic approach by which to achieve it. We address these issues here.

The recent debate over monetary union was shaped largely by the plan presented in the Report of the Committee for the Study of Economic and Monetary Union (Delors Report, 1989). The stature of its membership, which included the governors of the EC central banks, and the Report's official endorsement in 1989 by the European Council meeting in Madrid make it a natural point of reference. Section 2 of our essay juxtaposes the Maastricht Accord with the Delors Report, highlighting the main strategic aspects to show how the discussion has evolved since the Report's publication.

Section 3 discusses the main criteria for choosing a strategy for monetary union—credibility, flexibility, effective institution building, and a smooth transition to the new regime—and assesses the Accord in terms of them. Section 4 evaluates and compares the constitution for the proposed European Central Bank (ECB) with that of the German Bundesbank (BBK). Although the structure of the ECB resembles that of the BBK in many respects, there are enough important differences between the two institutions to question whether the ECB will be as successful in maintaining price stability in Europe as the BBK has in Germany.

From the Delors Report to the Maastricht Accord

Traditionally, a monetary union is defined as a group of regions or countries linked by a common currency or by permanently fixed nominal exchange rates (Allen, 1976; Corden, 1972). It may be managed in many ways, ranging from a unified central-banking system to a decentralized system such as the Gold Standard, in which individual autonomous central banks operate under a common constraint. The Delors Committee recommended that the European monetary union be built on joint and centralized management of monetary policy and defined monetary union as

a currency area in which policies are managed jointly, [with] the single most important condition for a monetary union [being] fulfilled only when the decisive step was taken to lock exchange rates irrevocably. (par. 22)

The Committee stated further that

a new monetary institution would be needed because a single monetary policy cannot result from independent decisions and actions by different central banks. (par. 32)

The process of European monetary union is linked with economic union, the Single European Market in which goods, services, assets, and production factors are freely traded. The ultimate goal is, thus, Economic and Monetary Union (EMU). Building EMU involves two qualitatively different processes. With markets for goods and services already largely integrated, the completion of economic union requires the elimination of remaining constraints on the mobility of services, capital, and labor within the EC. The steps leading to monetary union, however, introduce new constraints on monetary policy, that is, the permanent fixing of nominal exchange rates, the introduction of a common currency, and the transfer of responsibility for monetary policy from the national to the European level. A fundamental problem in designing a strategy for EMU is in timing the elimination of the old constraints and the addition of new ones, that is, with the sequencing of economic union and monetary union and with the speed of the process.

The Delors Strategy: Parallelism, Gradualism, and the European Monetary System

The strategy proposed by the Delors Report rests on the principles of parallelism and gradualism, with the European Monetary System (EMS) as the launching pad for EMU. The principle of parallelism says that

economic union and monetary union form two integral parts of a single whole and would therefore have to be implemented in parallel. (par. 21)

The reasoning behind this principle is vague. The Report states, on the one hand, that

achieving monetary union is only conceivable if a high degree of economic convergence is attained, (par. 21)

but maintains, on the other, that

the creation of a single currency area would add to the potential benefits of an enlarged economic area because it would remove intra-Community exchange rate uncertainties and reduce transactions cost. (par. 26)

Monetary union adds value to economic union, but monetary union is not essential for the success of economic union. The Report insists, instead, that

the success of the internal market program hinges to a decisive extent on a much closer coordination of national economic policies. [Thus] a number of the steps towards economic and monetary union will already have to be taken in the course of establishing a single market in Europe. (par. 14)

The Report notes, however, that fixed exchange rates would be one of the costs of adjustment toward economic union:

At the same time, however, exchange rate adjustments would no longer be available as an instrument to correct economic imbalances within the Community. (par. 26)

Such imbalances are particularly likely to occur during the building phase of economic union, as individual governments remove countryspecific regulations and market interventions and put new Community regulations into place. To compensate for the fixing of exchange rates, the Report argues that

Community policies in the regional and structural field would be necessary in order to promote an optimum allocation of resources and to spread welfare gains throughout the Community. (par. 29)

The principle of parallelism thus entails a predisposition for bureaucratic regulation, which contradicts the spirit of deregulation embedded in the Europe 1992 program. It suggests, furthermore, that the processes of establishing monetary and economic union will have to be fine-tuned in order to assure that monetary union neither follows nor precedes economic union. This approach reenforces the tendency to rely on centralized Community decisionmaking instead of market processes to implement the Single Market.

Parallelism also favors a gradual movement toward monetary union over a swift reform introducing the new monetary regime in one bold step. Because economic integration requires changes in private-sector behavior, it is necessarily a gradual process. Under parallelism, monetary union must, then, also proceed slowly. The Delors Report, like the Werner Report (Council, 1970), envisions a three-stage progression toward EMU, starting with the incorporation of all EC members into the Exchange Rate Mechanism (ERM) of the EMS. At this first stage, parity realignments remain possible; the member central banks merely commit to keeping exchange rates within bands of \pm 2.25 percent (\pm 6 percent for Spain and the United Kingdom) around the central parities (pars. 50 and 52).

Because realignments can support persistent differences in inflation rates among the member countries, the ERM theoretically requires only a limited degree of policy coordination. The possibility of realignments, however, exposes the ERM to speculative attacks. The more likely a realignment, the more likely that a bet against the central banks' ability or willingness to maintain the parities will be profitable. The prospect of a realignment can therefore trigger speculative capital flows that will themselves precipitate the realignment (Krugman, 1979).

By trying to wed exchange-rate flexibility with exchange-rate fixity, the ERM becomes an unstable arrangement.

The literature calls this instability the "inconsistent quartet" of free trade, free capital flows, fixed exchange rates, and monetary autonomy (Padoa-Schioppa, 1988). One of these four must be dropped to obtain a consistent monetary environment. The solution in the EMS so far has been to give up free capital flows. Only in recent years, when capital controls have been gradually dismantled, have countries in the EMS tacitly relinquished some monetary autonomy and chosen not to exercise the realignment option. EC regulations prevailing when the Delors Report was written retained an escape clause allowing for the reintroduction of capital and exchange controls in times of exchange crises (Bofinger, 1989, p. 433; Key, 1989, p. 596). Because of this, Stage One would not complete economic union.

Stage Two in the Delors Report would add the European System of Central Banks (ESCB) to the EMS. The functions of this new institution remain vague, however, with the Report stating that

While the ultimate responsibility for monetary policy decisions would remain with national authorities, . . . a certain amount of exchange reserves would be pooled . . . [and] regulatory functions would be exercised by the ESCB in the monetary and banking field in order to achieve a minimum harmonization of provisions (such as reserve requirements or payment arrangements) necessary for the future conduct of a common monetary policy. (par. 57)

Realignments would still be possible during Stage Two. The completion of both economic and monetary union would not be final until Stage Three:

The *final stage* would commence with the move to irrevocably locked exchange rates [par. 58] . . . with the ESCB assuming all its responsibilities as foreseen in the Treaty. (par. 60)

This last step at once eliminates the possibility of imposing capital controls, terminates the EMS, irrevocably fixes exchange rates, and transfers full authority for monetary policy to the ECB.

Although proposing three stages for EMU, the Delors Report does not establish a timetable for their realization, insisting only that Stage One should begin on July 1, 1990 (par. 43). Instead, the Report argues that the conditions for moving from stage to stage cannot be defined precisely in advance; nor is it possible to foresee today when these conditions will be realized. The setting of exact deadlines is therefore not advisable. (par. 43)

The Report is vague in another important respect. Although it states that "greater convergence of economic performance is needed" (par. 11), before monetary union can be achieved, it does not spell out the criteria

for measuring convergence. Noting the political significance of the decisions to move from stage to stage (par. 15), the Delors Committee foresaw that the European Council and, for the move to Stage Three, the ESCB, would assess the situation and decide on the optimum time to move to the next stage. Thus, the implementation of the process would be left to political discretion and bargaining.

The Report takes a similar stand on participation in EMU. Although declaring that the full participation of all EC members would be highly desirable, it recognizes the possibility that some members might join EMU later than others. Again, the Committee chose to leave the question of membership entirely to the politicians. For about two years after the publication of the Report, the prevailing political view was that all EC members should enter EMU at the same time, including Greece, Portugal, and Spain, whose economies are less mature. These latter countries soon voiced the fear that the developmental gap between their economies and the rest of the EC would leave them with severe structural and competitive disadvantages within EMU. They consequently requested increased funds for "structural policies" as well as the adoption of a European Social Charter to harmonize issues such as workers' rights and compensation and social protection throughout the EC so as to minimize their expected welfare loss from joining EMU. A high political value attached to unanimity during this period gave these countries considerable bargaining power. The Social Charter was adopted in October 1989, confirming the political necessity of enlarging the Community's regional and structural programs.

The British Reaction: Gradualism and Currency Competition

The British government under Mrs. Thatcher opposed the Delors strategy from the start, arguing that the case for monetary union remained inconclusive, although there were solid reasons for economic union. In fact, Mrs. Thatcher flatly ruled out British participation in EMU. British opposition, which continued after the demise of the Thatcher government and Britain's entry into the ERM in October 1990, rested on two concerns. One was the fear of losing political and economic sovereignty in a more closely integrated Europe. The other was a deep mistrust of the growing EC bureaucracy and of centralized decisionmaking in Brussels. This was, in the British view, contrary to the spirit and effort of deregulation in the Single Market.

The Thatcher government responded to the Delors Report by proposing an "evolutionary approach" to EMU (HM Treasury, 1989, 1991). Accepting the enlarged EMS as a starting point, the British

proposal emphasized that economic union should be completed in Stage One, including

the strengthening of coordination of economic and monetary policies [and] the inclusion of all currencies in the ERM on equal terms. (UK Treasury, 1989, par. 4)

The removal of all restrictions barring residents of one country from using another country's currency would encourage currency substitution and competition and would reduce national incentives to inflate. Economic union would thus create strong disciplinary pressures on national monetary policies, would induce convergence of inflation rates at a low level, and would eliminate exchange-rate variability. All EC currencies would thus be used interchangeably with "more or less fixed exchange rates" (par. 23).

Stage Two of the British proposal would introduce a Hard European Currency Unit (HECU), issued and managed by a European Monetary Fund (EMF) operating essentially as a currency board (see Walters, 1988, on the operation and historical significance of currency boards). The HECU would participate in the ERM, but its central parity would never be devalued against any member currency. HECU accounts would thus be perfect substitutes for the strongest currency in the ERM but would spare their holders the need to forecast which currency that might be or to forecast the timing of realignments. Over time, the superiority of the HECU would drive all currencies with high and uncertain inflation rates out of the market. Only those regarded as stable and certain would remain. The choice of currencies, including the adoption of a single European currency, would thus be left to market forces rather than to bureaucratic decree.

It was soon clear, however, that the British proposal was not a serious challenge to the Delors strategy. On the one hand, it was economically dubious. On the other, and more important, it was politically unacceptable, as it left no room for compromise with other EC members critical of the Delors Report. Because it strictly refused to consider a Community-led strategy for monetary union, the British proposal could not win over countries like Germany that, although sympathetic to economic union, were reluctant to accept monetary union as the price for political union.

The Maastricht Accord: Gradualism and Conditionality

The Maastricht Accord represents the end of a bargaining process that began a year earlier in Rome. It proposes a revision of the Treaty of Rome that would make monetary union, price stability, and sound public finances part of the Community's principles (Maastricht Accord,

Article 3a). The Accord lays down the Community's strategy to achieve EMU by the year 2000; it sets up the institutional framework for European monetary union; and, while accepting a gradual approach to EMU, it alters the strategy suggested by the Delors Committee in several important ways.

First, it drops the principle of parallelism entirely. The Accord (Article 73a-h) foresees the completion of economic union, with total and unconditional freedom of capital movements within the EC, beginning by January 1, 1994. Only those member countries that have been allowed to retain capital controls thus far may postpone liberalization until the end of 1995 (Article 73e). Intra-Community capital and exchange controls will no longer be admissible instruments of national economic policy within the union. Capital movements between EC members and third countries may be restricted only when these flows endanger "the operation of economic and monetary union," at which time "the Council . . . may take safeguard measures with regard to third countries for a period not exceeding six months if such measures are strictly necessary" (Article 73f). To mitigate the potential instability that the removal of these safety valves may have on the EMS, Article 109e calls on the EC members to engage in "multiannual programmes intended to ensure the lasting convergence necessary for the achievement of economic and monetary union, in particular with regard to price stability and sound public finance" (par. 2a). There is no reference in the Accord to the interaction between the achievement of economic union and monetary union; consequently, there are no provisions for bureaucratic fine-tuning of the two processes.

Second, the Accord outlines the institutional developments leading to EMU. At the beginning of Stage Two, a new European Monetary Institute (EMI) will be created, which will administer the EMS and prepare the ground for the ECB by coordinating national monetary policies and creating the instruments and procedures for the ECB in Stage Three (Article 109f). The EMI in turn will be liquidated when the ECB begins operations in Stage Three.

Third, the Accord sets up conditionalities and a precise timetable leading to EMU. These conditionalities—set out in Article 109j, in conjunction with Article 104c, and in a separate protocol—address the entry to Stage Three and aim at the convergence of inflation rates, the performance of public finances, and the development of the monetary institutions in the EC. To be eligible for EMU, a country's inflation rate must not exceed the lowest three EC inflation rates by more than 1.5 percentage points; its interest rate on long-term government bonds

must not exceed by more than 2 percentage points those of the three member states with the best inflation performance; its total government deficit must not exceed 3 percent of gross domestic product (GDP), and its outstanding government debt must not exceed 60 percent of GDP.³ For at least two years, the country's exchange rates vis-à-vis other EMS currencies must have remained within its EMS band without a devaluation of its central parities. Finally, the statutes of its national central bank must be compatible with the ECB Statute as established by the Accord (Article 108).

Stage Two is scheduled to begin on January 1, 1994. To prepare for Stage Three, Article 109j requires the EC heads of state or government to assess, by December 31, 1996, whether a majority of the EC members meet the entry conditions and whether the Community is ready for Stage Three. If so, a date is to be set for its beginning. Countries that do not meet the conditions—technically, "countries with a derogation"—are placed on a waiting list to be reconsidered for membership in subsequent years. Those that do meet the conditions will form the core of EMU. If, by the end of 1997, however, no date has been set for the start of Stage Three—that is, if a majority of countries cannot fulfill the entry conditions or the heads of state or government decide it is not appropriate to start EMU—Stage Three will begin anyway on January 1, 1999 and will include all those countries meeting the entry conditions. In this case, the core group may be only a minority of the member states.

The formulation of entry conditions and a timetable leaves the individual governments with the responsibility of achieving their countries' entry to EMU. On the one hand, this significantly reduces the prospect that high-inflation, high-public-debt countries will be admitted into a low-inflation community of countries with sound public finances. Thus, low-inflation countries may go ahead with EMU without having high-inflation countries join for a free ride. On the other hand, discarding the principle of an EMU that automatically includes all EC members has reduced Southern Europe's power to bargain for additional compensation and has diminished the relevance of the Social Charter.

Finally, the Maastricht Accord recognizes that individual members of the EC may, for political reasons, not wish to join EMU. In the separate Protocol on the Transition to the Third Stage of Economic and Monetary Union, the European heads of state determined to address this potential problem by promising that no member will keep the Community from

 $^{^3}$ The Treaty language is actually more guarded concerning application of the fiscal-convergence criteria. See below.

entering EMU. That is, no country will exploit its veto power to block EMU in decisions requiring unanimity, even if the country itself does not participate in the union. This allows the United Kingdom, in particular, to disagree without impeding progress toward EMU.

Furthermore, the Protocol on Certain Provisions Relating to the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland recognizes that the United Kingdom will not be obliged to join EMU unless she expresses her willingness to do so. If she does not, the new Treaty provisions relating to monetary union will not apply to the United Kingdom. The same protocol determines that, if the United Kingdom opts out, she will not be "included among the majority of Member States" required to form a majority by the end of 1996.⁴ This eliminates the possibility that today's most likely core group of Belgium, Denmark, France, Germany, Luxembourg, and the Netherlands can proceed with EMU before 1999, unless Italy or Ireland or one of the Southern countries meets the requirements by 1996 to form a majority of seven (out of twelve) countries.⁵ To the extent that this seems unlikely, the British opposition will have succeeded in raising obstacles and slowing down the creation of EMU.

2 The Maastricht Way to EMU: An Evaluation

Strategies for EMU must be evaluated on the basis of the four fundamental criteria of credibility, flexibility, effective institution building, and the phasing out of the existing regime. Together, they are the main determinants of the cost of transition. We develop these four criteria here and use them to evaluate the Maastricht Accord.

Credibility

Following the literature of game theory, we say that a commitment to a strategy of monetary policy, announced at a certain time, is credible if it remains an optimal strategy, that is, if it would be more costly for the policymaker to abandon his commitment than to honor it whenever he can revise his strategy at a later date. The economic importance of

 $^{^4}$ A similar provision applies to Denmark in recognition that the Danish constitution may demand a public referendum on entry into EMU.

⁵ Note, however, that the protocol might be interpreted as saying that the United Kingdom will not be counted in the group of countries relevant for the calculation of a majority. Under this interpretation, the relevant total number of countries will be eleven, and six will constitute a majority.

credibility in this regard relates to the role played by expectations in private-sector behavior. Unless a strategy is credible, private-sector expectations, and consequent behavior, will not support the strategy's goal. Not only may the goal then be unachievable, but the strategy itself may be suboptimal.

A major problem on the road to EMU is to convince private investors and wage and price setters that national authorities are firmly committed to the final goal of a common currency and a common central bank. Belief in this commitment is important in guiding private expectations during the transition. Without it, the public will view the institutional changes in preparation for EMU as evidence of increasing ambiguity and uncertainty in the existing monetary environment. They may then be unwilling to take bets on EMU: interest rates will continue to embed risk premia for exchange-rate volatility, and wage and price setters will write contracts embedding higher expected inflation rates than would be warranted on the way to EMU (Giovannini, 1990b; De Grauwe, 1992). Lack of credibility will thus create market distortions, which will, in turn, diminish EMU's attractiveness, make its achievement more difficult, and raise the likelihood of a withdrawal by national authorities.

No commitment is credible, of course, if the end itself is unattractive for the majority of the parties involved. This rules out credibility for a commitment to an EMU expected to perform less well than today's monetary arrangements in a majority of countries. Furthermore, although EMU may be attractive today, there is no assurance it will continue to be so. Unexpected economic shocks and political changes may weaken the struggle toward EMU, with governments giving in to short-sighted political interests and pressures and abandoning the objective before it has been achieved. It will be important to convince markets that, because withdrawal will always be the least attractive alternative, it is very unlikely.

An excellent way of achieving credibility would have been to introduce EMU in one bold step through a comprehensive monetary reform that immediately created very visible common institutions, including a common currency. This would have raised the political costs of withdrawal considerably. Under the gradual approach advocated by the Delors Committee and adopted with the Maastricht Accord, withdrawal is relatively cheap politically as long as the common institutions have not been completely established. Thus, the private sector may not believe in the commitment to EMU under the gradual approach, because the penalty for abandoning the goal is not sufficiently large.

The Delors and Maastricht strategies try to overcome this problem by using adherence to the fixed exchange rate in the EMS as a sign of a government's commitment to EMU. But the ERM adds little credibility as long as realignments remain possible and member countries have substantial room for independent policies. Giovannini (1990b) suggests in this regard that realignments be ruled out and final monetary reform accelerated in response to exchange or money-market turmoil. These measures would enhance the value of EMS membership as a sign of commitment by equating parity changes with the politically unattractive exit from the system. Giovannini (1990a, p. 9) notes, however, that "ostensibly fixed exchange rates have been changed before." As long as national interests count more than Community interests, the probability of realignments will remain nonzero.

The Maastricht Accord seeks to strengthen the signal value of the ERM by adding new institutions. Article 109c makes the Monetary Committee responsible for monitoring monetary and fiscal developments in the EMS during Stage One and for delivering reports and recommendations to the European Council and Commission. Member states deviating from the common policy thrust toward EMU may be reprimanded by the Monetary Committee and incur some political cost in defending their actions. In addition, Article 109d gives the Council as well as individual members the right to ask the Commission for a recommendation or a proposal regarding the consistency of economic policies and monetary and fiscal developments in member countries. Deviant countries may therefore be targeted for public admonition even if the Monetary Committee has been permissive. Once Stage Two is under way, the more visible institutional organization and its broader responsibility will increase the weight of opinions expressed by the EMI and thus contribute further to the political cost of deviations from the common policy course. Although the mandate of the EMI does not mention the surveillance of fiscal policies explicitly—Article 109f mentions strengthening central-bank cooperation and coordinating monetary policies—the EMI is authorized to "submit opinions or recommendations . . . on policies which might affect the internal or external monetary situation in the Community and, in particular, the functioning of the European Monetary System" (Article 109f, par. 4).

Given the prominent role the Accord gives fiscal-policy provisions in the context of EMU, the EMI could deduce from this statement an

⁶ Although the Report calls for the formulation of convergent policies by all EMS members (par. 39), such formulations would be no more than mere declarations of intent.

authorization to speak up against deviant fiscal developments in individual member countries. Whether or not it exercises this authority will largely depend on the boldness of its president.

The Maastricht Accord continues to rely heavily on the fixed exchange rate as a sign of commitment to EMU. But the utility of the fixed rate as a sign is severely restricted by its nature. As long as inflation rates have not fully converged, the fixed exchange rate implies a continuous change in real exchange rates and, consequently, in competitive market conditions. Those countries with higher inflation rates will experience increasing competitive disadvantages. If the public believes that governments will not tolerate such disadvantages for long periods of time and yet will not reduce inflation, the perceived likelihood of realignments rises over time, and belief in the fixed rate vanishes. Private-sector contracts will embed the likelihood of a realignment, making sure that inflation and interest rates will not converge. This phenomenon is exemplified in the ex post real interest rates in French and Dutch money markets, which, in the late 1980s, continued to be high compared to German rates although no realignment occurred. So long as inflation rates diverge and the public perceives that governments can resort to realignment to reduce competitive pressure, the fixed exchange rate will not be a good sign of commitment.

At the heart of the credibility problem lies the temptation to use monetary policy to pursue goals other than price stability, such as short-term gains in employment or reductions in the real value of government debt through surprise inflation. Removing this temptation would raise the credibility of commitment to a price-stable EMU. One way to do this would be to assure that no political reward can be expected from surprise inflation. If a majority of voters consistently declares price stability to be the first and only goal of monetary policy, policymakers can reap no gain from pursuing other ends. This emphasis on democratic consent as a basis for a low-inflation EMU is clearly visible in the British position (Richards, 1990, p. 4; Bank of England, 1990a). Political practice shows, however, that voters change their views over time about the priorities of monetary policy.

Alternatively, the temptation can be reduced by making the central bank independent of government and the electoral process and by giving it a reward structure favoring price stability. Under such an arrange-

⁷ The independent central bank can be regarded in this context as being in a principal-agent relationship between the electorate, which agrees on the long-run desirability of price stability but reneges on the commitment to price stability in the short run, and the central bankers, who expect no gain from reneging (O'Flaherty, 1990; Rogoff, 1985).

ment, central bankers have no incentive to aim at short-sighted goals and recognize that their best interest lies in the pursuit of low-inflation policies. In contrast to politicians, they are able to make credible commitments to price stability, because they stand to lose influence and public standing from inflation. Because a low-inflation EMU requires that individual countries eventually give up the use of monetary policy for short-sighted purposes anyway, the commitment to this goal will be more credible if made by independent central banks instead of by governments retaining authority over monetary policy in the transition.

Under a gradual approach to EMU, the credibility of the commitment to a low-inflation EMU can thus be enhanced by giving the national central banks independence. This would place the transition to EMU under the control of national monetary authorities, each credibly committed to price stability. The ECB would then emerge from the fusion of these independent central banks. As mentioned above, the Maastricht Accord takes a step in this direction by requiring that all member states make their national central-banking legislation compatible with the independent status of the ECB. But the Accord does not go far enough. Rather than require that the EMS central banks be granted, and operate with, independence before engaging in Stages Two and Three, the Accord demands only that appropriate legislative changes be made during Stage Two (Article 109f), with no need to implement them before the start of Stage Three. Thus, instead of laying the institutional foundations early on, the Accord relies on national legislative actions as another fuzzy signal of the governments' commitment to EMU.

Flexibility

During the transition to EMU, the integration of money and capital markets will cause changes in the behavior of money demand and financial institutions and make monetary control more difficult. Furthermore, one cannot exclude the occurrence of severe economic shocks to the Community in the transition phase. To respond to these risks, monetary policy should remain flexible during the transition.

Flexibility has two dimensions here. One is to allow for variations in real exchange rates in response to country-specific economic shocks. With sluggish goods and factor prices, real-exchange-rate adjustment to

⁸ On the strategic aspects of central-bank independence, see Neumann (1991) and von Hagen and Fratianni (1990). Note that independence does not imply lack of accountability as long as central-bank officials have limited terms and are subject to the statutes of the central bank as well as to auditing procedures.

idiosyncratic supply and demand shocks is accelerated by nominalexchange-rate changes. Consequently, nominal-exchange-rate flexibility is more valuable as an adjustment tool the more often real-exchange-rate changes are required, that is, the more important idiosyncratic shocks are compared to common shocks. The need for flexible adjustment was a basic consideration in the British proposal and the Delors Committee's view that realignments should not be ruled out during Stages One and Two. In the context of a strategy for EMU that relies on the fixed exchange rate as a sign of commitment, however, the authorities must, and do, fear loss of credibility from a parity adjustment. Thus, there will be fewer and smaller nominal-exchange-rate adjustments than are optimal. The experience with German unification is a telling example. The combination of a large positive demand shock with restrictive monetary policy in Germany after July 1990 required a real appreciation of the deutsche mark to reduce Germany's external surplus. Instead of facilitating this reduction with a nominal appreciation, however, Germany's EMS partners sought to safeguard their deutsche mark parities by pushing up their interest rates together with the German rates, thereby aggravating the recessionary tendencies in their economies.

The apparent conflict between credibility and flexibility on the way to EMU (Giovannini, 1990) is entirely due to the flawed strategic choice that has made fixed exchange rates a sign of the authorities' commitment to EMU. The same trade-off would not arise with independent national central banks, which could commit credibly to price stability and EMU and therefore facilitate a smoother management of the ERM. If central parities were managed by independent central banks, the public would understand that parity changes were simply responses to country-specific shocks and not indicative of a weakening in the commitment to EMU. Thus, optimal parity management would not interfere with long-term expectations about monetary trends in Europe.

A recent paper by Begg et al. (1991) focuses on a related, pernicious consequence of the use of the exchange rate as a commitment signal. The authors advocate that a "final" realignment be effected in the EMS soon, so as not to burden a fledgling EMU with the distortions created by a long period of fixed nominal exchange rates and diverging inflation rates. No such burden would arise if the ERM parities were managed optimally by independent central banks. The efficient way to free EMU from adverse initial conditions calls for an appropriate institutional reform rather than a final realignment now.⁹

⁹ Begg et al. also advocated a fixed-exchange-rate adjustment before signing the Treaty

The second dimension of monetary-policy flexibility is the optimal response to common shocks. As Begg et al. point out, an independent central bank is preferable to a rigid monetary rule enforcing price stability, because it can be left with enough policy discretion to respond to aggregate economic shocks. For example, a monetary expansion to counteract a transitory adverse demand shock would not trigger increasing inflation expectations, for the public would understand that there is no permanent price-level effect implied. The early establishment of central-bank independence on the way to EMU would therefore give the national authorities more flexibility to respond to current economic shocks and would raise the quality of monetary policy in the EMS.

Effective Institution Building

A common currency and new policy institutions in Europe will transform financial-market behavior. As new links between money, interest rates, income, and prices evolve, the new monetary authority will have to adjust to new conditions of monetary control. The Delors Committee addressed this problem by granting the ECB a learning period:

Stage two must be seen as a period of transition to the final stage and would thus primarily constitute a training process leading to collective decision-making, while the ultimate responsibility for policy decisions at this stage would remain with national authorities. (par. 55)

Responsibilities would be gradually transferred to the new institution, giving the ECB time to acquire the skills necessary for its role in Stage Three and to minimize the cost of policy errors along the way. Yet, the coexistence of central and national decisionmaking in Stage Two of the Delors proposal would have created institutional conflict and, in the absence of rules to resolve it, room for political discretion in the conduct of monetary policy. Eichengreen's (1991) account of the early period of the Federal Reserve System highlights the adverse effects of uncertain allocation of monetary-policy authority on central-bank performance.

The Maastricht Accord drops altogether the concept of a learning period and provides a much cleaner solution to Community institution building in the transition period. It leaves monetary policy entirely in the hands of the national authorities until the start of Stage Three. During Stage Two, the EMI is set up as a transitional institution

revision and a provision in the Treaty to have no more realignments. This would have suppressed any speculation about a final realignment at the start of Stage Three.

preparing the way for the ECB. The ECB, which will be created at the start of Stage Three, will not be burdened with public memories of the political or economic quagmires that may be encountered during the transition phase.

The administrative structure of the EMI bears some resemblance to the ECB. The EMI Council, its decisionmaking body, consists of a president, a vice-president, and the governors of the national central banks. The president is appointed for a period of three years, by common accord of the European heads of state or government, initially upon recommendation of the Committee of Central Bank Governors and subsequently upon recommendation of the EMI Council; the vicepresident is selected from among the governors. Article 8 of the EMI Statute grants the EMI independence from Community institutions and national governments and is qualitatively similar to Article 7 of the ECB Statute. The decisionmaking rules of the EMI differ somewhat from those of the Governing Council of the ECB. For example, the president does not have a casting vote in the event of a tie and is not the sole representative of the national central banks. These differences make the EMI Council a more "federal" institution than the ECB in the sense that national interests carry more weight than international interests.

The EMI has three main functions. To begin with, it will inherit the EMS and administer its operation. During Stage Two, it is charged with "strengthen[ing] cooperation between the central banks of the Member States [and] the coordination of the monetary policies" (Article 109f, par. 2). In exercising this function, the EMI is explicitly committed to price stability. Its role is to organize the exchange of information among the national central banks and to monitor monetary developments in the member states. Recalling that, from the start of Stage Two, the EMS can no longer rely on capital controls as safety valves, this coordinating function will be much more important than policy coordination in the current EMS. The EMI Council has the right to formulate and publish opinions about such developments and to rebuke governments for too profligate monetary policies. The fact that such opinions and their formulation require a qualified majority to pass the EMI Council (EMI Statute, Article 10) assures, however, that the six most price-stable countries of the EMS will not be able to use the EMI as an outlet for public admonitions to EMS members with less stringent monetary discipline.

Looking to the future, the EMI will oversee the development of the ECU and prepare "the instruments and procedures necessary for carrying out a single monetary policy in the third stage [and] the rules

for operations to be undertaken by the national central banks in the framework of the ESCB" (Article 109f, par. 3). Article 4.2 of the EMI Statute directs the EMI to specify a "regulatory, organizational and logistical framework for the ESCB to perform its tasks in the third stage." These specifications will be submitted for decision to the ECB at the beginning of Stage Three. In setting the operating procedures for the ECB, the EMI will take a major responsibility for the initial performance of the new central bank. The unanimity requirement in the EMI Council for the main decisions in this field (EMI Statute, Article 10.4) gives even those countries that will not join Stage Three by 1999 significant influence on the design of the future ECB. This, again, underlines the "federal" character of the EMI. The timetable established by the Maastricht Accord implies that, at the beginning of Stage Three, some EC members may have a derogation and may therefore not join the ESCB. Because the EMI disappears at the start of Stage Three, an institutional arrangement will be necessary to facilitate the continuation of an exchange-rate agreement between members of EMU and those countries with a derogation. The Accord says nothing specific about the future of the EMS with respect to countries with a derogation. Article 109l requires the ESCB to take over functions of the EMI at the start of Stage Three; these would include monitoring the functioning of the EMS and the tasks of the current European Monetary Co-operation Fund, which finances EMS exchange-market interventions. However, Article 109m merely requires a member with a derogation to "regard its exchange rate policy as a matter of common interest" and to "take account of the experience acquired in cooperation within the framework of the EMS." Kenen (1992) concludes that EMU will develop an exchange-rate arrangement vis-à-vis members with a derogation that will be looser than that of the EMS.

For this purpose, a General Council is added to the ECB to remain as long as there are countries with a derogation (ECB Statute, Article 45-47). The General Council consists of the governors of the national central banks and the president and the vice-president of the ECB. Its mandate is to administer the functions of the EMI for the countries with a derogation, to prepare the abrogation of those derogations, and to take part in the general advisory functions of the ECB. Thus, the main role of the General Council is to give the countries with a derogation a voice in the ECB in matters concerning them after the start of Stage Three and to avoid potential conflicts and misgivings between "insiders" and "outsiders" that might prevent the final extension of EMU to the entire Community.

Phasing Out the Existing Monetary Regime

Recent experience with German monetary union has demonstrated the relevance of end games during institutional transition phases. End games arise when the participants know that a particular arrangement will stop at a certain time and that they can influence their relative wealth or income positions in the subsequent arrangement by taking certain actions under the current one. 10 In the context of EMU, an end game might arise from the announcement that a new currency will be introduced on a certain date. Governments will then have an incentive to enter the new regime with a depreciated currency and a lower real value of government debt and might, therefore, run a monetary surge before the inception of monetary union. If the announcement specifies both a date and a final parity, instead, a different kind of end game will take place. In that case, governments will postpone disinflations until shortly before joining the union. Labor unions, however, will push for wage hikes shortly before entering the monetary union in order to secure relatively high levels of purchasing power for their wages once in the union.

Another end game that might arise is the "inflation-devaluation" end game with the Barro-Gordon model of central-bank credibility (see Froot and Rogoff, 1991). Devaluations temporarily raise a country's competitiveness by an amount that depends on degrees of price and wage rigidities. At the same time, devaluations raise inflation expectations and equilibrium inflation and cast doubt on the central bank's reputation for commitment to price stability. The competitive gain from a devaluation is felt mostly in the short run, whereas the loss of reputation is uniformly distributed over time. Because inflation in EMU

The most telling example comes from German monetary union and involves the round of wage negotiations between labor and management that took place in the old, formerly socialist companies after German monetary union was announced. Under normal circumstances, the survival of the firm puts a limit on labor's wage demands and management's wage concessions. However, when both labor and management concur that the firm is destined for bankruptcy, an end game arises. Labor will demand excessive wages to secure generous benefit levels, if, as in Germany, unemployment benefits are tied to exit wages. Management has no reason to object but may have good reasons to concede. Managers, who were appointed for political merits under the socialist regime, are more interested in building a reputation of concern for workers than in preserving the firm's viability. The end game predicts exactly what happened during 1990: very high wage increases in East Germany despite falling production, high unemployment, and no productivity gains.

no longer depends on national policies, the incentive for a devaluation rises as the system approaches Stage Three. Interest rates will diverge between high- and low-inflation countries as the deadline becomes imminent, making the conditions for Stage Three less favorable.

Still another end game might result from the rules of seigniorage distribution that will prevail in the monetary union. If, for example, seigniorage distribution in the new regime depends on the relative sizes of the national monetary bases, each government will have an incentive to increase monetary-base growth to secure a larger seigniorage share. The end game here will be similar to the behavior of individual firms in a cartel, in which cartel profits are distributed according to relative capacities. The Maastricht Accord rules this out by determining that "the sum of the national bank's monetary income shall be allocated to the national central banks in proportion to their paid-up shares in the capital of the ECB" (Article 32, par. 5), which will be determined by population and their shares in Community GDP (Article 29, par. 1).

The important point of the above illustrations is that, in the transition phase to EMU, governments and private-sector agents may be tempted to engage in policies aimed at manipulating their position in the new regime rather than assuring sound monetary and fiscal conditions. Optimal end-game strategies will depend on the governments' previous fiscal stances, the levels of their outstanding debt, and the political importance of export industries seeking competitive advantages. These factors are likely to work against the convergence of economic performance required for the introduction of EMU.

Theoretically, end games can be discouraged by keeping the conditions and timing of the transition sufficiently uncertain with respect to the relevant decisionmakers. This is not, of course, politically feasible in the present context. Alternatively, the parameters of the monetary union, such as the conversion ratios, that determine the real value of government debt in the common currency and the competitiveness of the members can be tied to empirical criteria determined *before* the announcement of the final transition to EMU. This option has now been foregone with the determination of a deadline for EMU. Because the relevance of end games will depend critically on the extent to which monetary policy in the transition phase depends on government policies, end games can also be avoided by establishing central-bank independence in all participating countries before the announcement of the final decision. As noted above, the Maastricht Accord does not do that.

Finally, end games can be avoided by stipulating entry conditions that must be met by prospective members for a specified time before joining EMU. This is the approach taken by the Maastricht Accord, which sets entry conditions for Stage Three with respect to fiscal variables, inflation rates, exchange rates, and long-term interest rates, and also sets a legislative requirement for the national central-bank laws.

Entry conditions for inflation and exchange rates are set to enforce the convergence of *actual* inflation for some time before Stage Three. Conditions for long-term interest rates and fiscal variables deal, by contrast, with *expected* inflation.¹¹ Long-term interest rates on government bonds reflect long-term expected inflation rates and risk premia reflecting the perceived probabilities of debt consolidation, unexpected impositions of taxes on interest payments, or similar forms of partial debt default by the national governments. With perfect capital-market integration in Stage Two, real interest rates on long-term government bonds will be equalized net of such risk premia. Thus, systematic real-interest-rate differentials must be due to differences in partial default risk. If expected inflation rates (like actual rates) diverge by 150 basis points, the maximum interest-rate spread of 200 basis points will tolerate risk premia differentials of up to 50 points relative to the three countries with the best inflation performance.¹²

The "unpleasant monetarist arithmetic" of Sargent and Wallace (1981) implies that a permanent increase in the ratio of public debt to GNP indicates a rise in future inflation. From this perspective, the fiscal entry conditions merely introduce additional indicators of expected inflation. Their contribution is to make national fiscal policies directly responsible for the achievement of EMU. Governments currently violating these conditions will have to alter public spending and taxation, which, with their direct impact on the allocation of public goods and subsidies and the distribution of income, are even more at the heart of government than is monetary policy. The fiscal conditions will force deviant governments to make political sacrifices at home for the sake of EMU. In this sense, they may become a litmus test strengthening the credibility of those truly committed to EMU.

 $^{^{11}}$ The Accord (Article 109j, par. 1) speaks of the "durability of convergence" as "being reflected in the long-term interest rate levels."

 $^{^{12}}$ To illustrate, consider two government bonds for which the payoff, corrected for expected inflation, will always be 1 ECU per pound. Let T be the risk-free real interest rate and assume that one bond has a default probability, p, in every period and the other has a default probability of zero. The price of the first bond is (1-p)/(T+p), the price of the second is 1/T. If the real rates of return cannot differ by more than 50 basis points, and T=3.0 percent, p cannot exceed 0.52 percent.

Table 1 shows the 1990 realizations for the EC countries of the critical variables for entry to EMU. Only four countries qualify on the basis of these data: Denmark, Germany, France, and Luxembourg. Greece, Italy, and Portugal meet none of the four criteria; Ireland and the United Kingdom meet three; Belgium and the Netherlands meet two; and Spain meets one. Assuming that Denmark, Germany, France, and Luxembourg will continue to meet the requirements in the future, at least three more countries, not including the United Kingdom, will be necessary for Stage Three to be declared by majority at the end of 1996. Ireland, Belgium, and the Netherlands are natural candidates with regard to their price and interest-rate performances. There is little

TABLE 1 Convergence Indicators

	1990 Realizations				R	Required Reductions ^a			
	Inflation Rate (CPI)	Long-Term Bond Yield	Budget Deficit to GDP	Debt to GDP	Inflation Rate (CPI)	Long-Term Bond Yield	Budget Deficit t GDP		
Belgium	3.4	10.1	5.5	130.2	-	-	2.5	70.2	
Denmark	2.6	11.0	1.6	58.9	-	-	-	-	
Germany	2.7	8.9	2.5	41.2	-	-	-	-	
Greece	20.4	n.a.	20.2	81.6	16.3	n.a.	17.2	21.6	
Spain	6.7	14.7	4.0	44.1	2.6	3.1	1.0	-	
France	3.4	9.9	1.7	46.5	-	-	-	-	
Ireland	3.3	10.1	2.3	115.2	-	-	-	55.2	
Italy	6.5	13.4	10.7	101.1	2.4	1.8	7.7	41.1	
Luxembourg	3.7	8.6	-3.3	7.8	-	-	-	-	
Netherlands	2.4	9.0	5.3	79.3	-	-	2.3	19.3	
Portugal	13.4	16.8	6.0	67.8	9.3	5.2	3.0	7.8	
UK	9.5	11.1	0.7	35.8	5.4	-	-	-	
3 Lowest Countries									
(Avg)	2.6	9.6	-	-	-	-	-	-	

SOURCES: Commission of the European Communities, *European Economy*, Supplement A, No. 6, June 1991, for the inflation rate and long-term government bond yields. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, *OECD Economic Outlook* 50, December 1991, for budget deficit and debt, except for Luxembourg and Portugal. For these two countries, the data come from the Commission of the European Communities, *European Economy*, No. 46, December 1990.

^a In the case of the inflation rate, the required reduction is the amount needed to reach the average of the lowest three countries plus 150 basis points; in the case of the long-term interest rate, it is the amount required to reach the average of the lowest three plus 200 basis points. In the cases of the budget deficit and debt, the required reductions are the amounts required to meet the reference levels under the excessive-deficit procedure.

realistic hope, however, that Ireland and Belgium can appropriately reduce their debt-to-GDP ratios. Nominal GDP will have to grow 11.1 percent faster on average than nominal debt between 1992 and 1996 for Belgium to make it and 9.1 percent faster for Ireland. Assuming that current inflation rates remain the same in these countries and that the growth of nominal debt is brought down to zero, real GDP will have to grow by 7.6 percent in Belgium and 5.8 percent in Ireland to satisfy the debt entry condition. Both possibilities are remote. A more positive outlook emerges if the majority declaration is foregone and EMU begins on January 1, 1999. For this scenario, the required excess (real) growth rates of GDP over public debt are 7.9 percent (4.5 percent) for Belgium and 6.5 percent (3.2 percent) for Ireland.

Alternatively, the Council of Ministers, which oversees the fiscal conditions, may decide that a strict application of those conditions will excessively delay Stage Three, and they may therefore adopt a "dynamic interpretation." This interpretation, designated "dynamic" by the Italian delegation at Maastricht, would consider the *change* in the debt-to-GDP ratio instead of its *level*, together with the *primary* deficit rather than the *total* deficit. A country with a high but declining debt ratio and primary surpluses could be considered eligible for Stage Three, even if the entry conditions were not met. Belgium and Italy provide interesting contrasts. The Belgian debt ratio peaked in 1988 at 134 percent of GDP, and the country has enjoyed primary surpluses since 1985, indicating that a fiscal correction has been in the making for some time. Italy, by contrast, has a rising debt ratio coupled with primary deficits. Belgium would meet the "dynamic" criterion; Italy would not. The possibility of a dynamic interpretation is embedded in the Treaty.

Article 104c entrusts the Commission with monitoring fiscal developments in member states to determine their compliance with the reference values specified in the Protocol on the Excessive Deficit Procedure. The protocol, however, leaves room for ample discretion:

... unless either the ratio [of the planned or actual deficit to gross domestic product] has declined *substantially* and continuously and reached a level that comes close to the reference value; or, alternatively the excess over the reference value is only exceptional and temporary and the ratio remains *close* to the reference value. (par. 2, italics added)

A similar escape clause exempts member states from the debt ratio:

... unless the ratio is sufficiently *diminishing* and approaching the reference value at a *satisfactory* pace. (par. 2, italics added)

The terms *substantially*, *close*, *diminishing*, and *satisfactory* will be interpreted in different ways by different countries at different times and seem ideal to induce significant compromises among member states.

Furthermore, the Council of Ministers may take into account "any observation which the Member State concerned may wish to make" (Article 104c, par. 6) before determining whether the member's deficit or debt is excessive.

The optimal transition strategies of the high-debt countries in the EC will depend largely on the desire of the European governments to begin Stage Three with a majority of member states and on the degree of perceived likelihood that the dynamic interpretation will be adopted for that reason. Governments anticipating that the fiscal conditions will be rigidly applied and desiring to spread the cost of a fiscal adjustment over time will do best to change their policies soon and attempt a gradual debt reduction. Governments anticipating a Community desire to have a majority in Stage Three will realize that the dynamic interpretation implicitly rewards a particularly strong effort made right before the deadline to comply with the conditions. Rather than spread the adjustment over time, such governments may be tempted to continue their profligate policies for another few years and then abruptly slam on the brakes. Obviously, this would work against both the purpose of convergence to sound public finances and the stability of financial markets. To avoid pernicious end-game incentives issuing from the Maastricht provisions, the Community should therefore avoid giving any sign indicating the priority of a majority solution for Stage Three and a too lenient, dynamic interpretation of the entry conditions.

Finally, the condition on the debt-to-GDP ratios poses the risk that countries with large debts might engineer a bout of inflation before the EMU deadline to lower the real value of their debt. With the additional inflation and exchange-rate conditions, however, such inflation spikes would have to come fairly soon. The likelihood of this happening is reduced by the relatively large share of short-term debt in total outstanding public debt (Bishop, 1991), a share that implies that a rise in inflation would soon translate into higher refinancing requirements and, hence, rising deficits. The Protocol on the Excessive Deficit Procedure gives detailed definitions of debt- and deficit-accounting rules and statistical norms in order to mitigate the danger that high-debt countries will use the time until 1999 to hide their debt and deficits under off-budget items (von Hagen, 1992, shows that U.S. state governments use such strategies to meet their debt limitations and balanced-budget requirements).

The Two-Tier EMS: A Strategy for Implementing the Maastricht Accord

As a strategy for EMU, the Maastricht Accord represents a significant improvement over the Delors Report. It still shares with the Report,

however, severe weaknesses arising from the strict reliance on fixed exchange rates as a sign of commitment to EMU. By insisting on fixed rates during the transition, the Maastricht strategy removes the flexibility to adjust to country-specific shocks and creates a fragile environment in which policy coordination is not yet enforced but safety valves, such as capital controls, have already been removed. By requiring only that the laws of the central banks have to be made compatible with the independent ECB, but not implemented before the beginning of Stage Three, the Accord forgoes the opportunity to ensure that the necessary fiscal adjustments take place before the start of EMU. In this section of our essay, we propose a procedure for implementation of the Accord that will overcome these weaknesses. Our proposal rests on the premise that formalizing and practicing cooperation among independent central banks during the transition will resolve the conflict between credibility and flexibility and will provide a stable environment on the way to EMU. To make our approach compatible with the Maastricht Accord, we propose to loosen the formal EMS constraints and add tighter, but unilateral, exchange-rate constraints as well as a provision to implement centralbank independence during Stage Two. Our proposal is summarized as follows:

- (1) The ERM of the EMS would be transformed into a two-tier system. All participating currencies in the EMS would adhere to the ordinary bands of ± 6 percent around the central parities. Compulsory interventions backed by the current financing mechanism of the EMS would be undertaken to defend these bands. Within the normal band, all participating monetary authorities would declare narrow bands of (initially) ± 2.25 percent as a voluntary commitment. Interventions to defend the narrow bands would not be compulsory and would not be eligible for the financing mechanisms provided by the EMS.
- (2) The EMI Council would meet at least ten times a year to discuss monetary policy in the EMS and make policy recommendations. If individual exchange rates were to move outside the narrow band for more than, say, five consecutive days, the Council would meet and discuss the situation. If individual rates were to move outside the band for more than ten consecutive days, the Council would issue a formal decision either to realign or to maintain the relevant central parities.
- (3) All participating governments would commit to reducing their influence on monetary policy and to implementing central-bank independence during the transition to EMU. The EMI would issue an annual progress report on the state of independence of the national central banks.

- (4) The transition to Stage three of EMU would be marked by both increasing central-bank independence and a stepwise narrowing of the inner band in the ERM, reflecting the growing convergence of the national economies and the commitment of the national authorities to fixed exchange rates.
- (5) Monetary union, including the creation of the ECB with full responsibility for European monetary policy, would be announced following a decision by the European Council, but no earlier than two years without a realignment decision, and no earlier than two years after central banks joining Stage Three would have begun to operate with a degree of independence comparable to the level desired for the ECB.

More specifically, we propose:

(6) That each national central bank choose between an exchange-rate band of 12 percent or a narrower band initially set at 4.5 percent. Although the wide band would be backed by the financing mechanisms of the EMS, the narrow band would not. Countries with stable currencies in the EMS would opt for narrow bands with other stable currencies to indicate their commitment to price stability and EMU. The narrow bands would not be exposed to speculative attacks as exchange rates approach the limits of the narrow bands, because interventions would not be compulsory, and speculators would be subject to the risk of capital losses even at the margins of the narrow bands. The noncompulsory nature of interventions at the margins of the narrow band would mean that hard-currency central banks would not be forced to soften their monetary discipline in support of weaker currencies. Inflation rates would thus be encouraged to converge at a low level, as required by the Maastricht Accord.

The wider bands would conform with current EMS practice for new entrants and hence would minimize formal changes in the current setup. Of course, no visible change in the exchange-rate bands would be required if the countries currently in the 4.5-percent band did not wish to opt for wider bands. During the transition to EMU, the wide bands would serve mainly to prevent speculative bubbles and to insure against the possibility of too large exchange-rate changes resulting from large asymmetric shocks.

(7) The EMI would play a central role in the formulation of common monetary targets or other forms of consistent monetary strategies in the EC during the transition. This would build experience and the mutual knowledge necessary for increasingly closer policy coordination and, eventually, a common monetary policy. These provisions would be

broadly consistent with the tasks assigned to the EMI by Article 109f of the Maastricht Treaty.

An important responsibility of the EMI under our proposal would be to issue formal realignment decisions whenever exchange-market tensions occurred. Making realignment decisions regular and formal events would reduce the symbolic and political significance these decisions now have. The requirement of a formal realignment decision would also encourage the monetary authorities to state their reasons for or against a realignment. There is no reason why the private sector would interpret a realignment, decided among independent central banks reacting to country-specific shocks, as evidence of a weak commitment to EMU. The two-tier EMS would therefore combine credibility with the flexibility to respond to asymmetric shocks.

The two-tier EMS would also create an early-warning system, ensuring that realignments were small enough to make the new central parity fall within the wider band. Realignments would thus contribute little to nominal- and real-exchange-rate variability, and the danger of speculative attacks would be further reduced.

(8) The requirement that central banks be given independence in practice would force participating governments to give up power over monetary policy before EMU is reached. We choose to interpret Article 109j of the Accord not merely as a formal criterion of legal compatibility but as a behavioral concept. Whether or not independence is realized must be judged by the EMI considering the actual policies of a national central bank (for example, to what extent the bank follows government instructions). The resultant hardening of the government budget constraint would induce fiscal authorities to limit budget deficits so as to be compatible with central-bank independence.

Central-bank independence implemented during the transition would also reduce the threat of end-game behavior, because independent national central banks would have little incentive to manipulate the competitiveness of national industries or the real value of government debt.

(9) The narrow bands in the EMS would be gradually tightened during the transition. Because the narrow bands would be unilateral commitments, the national central banks could, as they saw fit, announce and adhere to increasingly smaller bands around the exchange rates of the most stable currencies. Adjustments could proceed as policy-induced asymmetric shocks dissipated, and the commitment of all members to EMU would grow stronger over time. There would be no reason, by contrast, to change the width of the wider band.

(10) Our plan, like the Maastricht Accord, recognizes the political prerogative in making the final decision about EMU. Our provision, however, would be to give veto power to the EMI, because the EMI would judge central-bank independence and make realignment decisions. Requiring a period of two years before a realignment decision, rather than before an actual realignment, would imply that exchange rates had never gone beyond the narrow bands for more than nine consecutive days and would demonstrate a large degree of political and economic convergence. This type of convergence would also limit the importance of end games during the transition.

The two-tier EMS would overcome the weaknesses resulting from the excessive symbolic weight given to fixed exchange rates. In addition, it would foster convergence and policy coordination at a speed chosen by the participating governments, would generate a sorting-out mechanism for the "multi-speed" approach to EMU, and would be easy to implement. In all these respects, it is consistent with the objectives and many of the provisions of the Maastricht Treaty.

3 The European Central Bank

The performance of EMU will depend critically on the institutional design of the ECB, one important aspect of which is its independence from the European governments (Rogoff, 1985). Central-bank independence from government is not only necessary to achieve lasting price stability (Neumann, 1991; O'Flaherty, 1990); empirical evidence suggests also that long-run inflation rates are lower in countries with independent central banks (Bade and Parkin, 1987; Alesina, 1989; Alesina and Grilli, 1991; Demopoulos, Katsimbris, and Miller, 1987).

The Delors Committee described the future European central bank simply as "independent" (par. 32), without further explanation. The Maastricht Accord, however, is very specific on the subject. In this section, we review the ECB Statute and discuss its implications for the performance of EMU. Table 2 (pp. 30-31) summarizes the relevant articles from the Statute and reports for comparison the corresponding provisions of the Bundesbank Act. Following a brief description of the institutional organization of central banks, we concentrate on the objectives of central-bank policy, institutional and personal independence, and the excessive-deficit procedure.

Central-Bank Organization

There are strong similarities in the structure of the decisionmaking bodies and processes of the ECB and the BBK. Both have councils formulating the general guidelines of monetary policy to be discharged by their executive boards. Both councils are composed of the members of their respective boards (six for the ECB and up to ten for the BBK) and either the central-bank governors of countries without a derogation or the presidents of the eleven land central banks. Members of both councils have one vote each, and only in specific cases may the ECB call for weighted voting. In the event of a tie, the presidents of both councils may cast two votes. Actions before both councils require a simple majority vote, unless specified otherwise.

One important aspect of the composition of the central-bank council in the Community system is the weight given the representation of central, or Community, interests relative to that given the member states in monetary-policy decisions. With a common currency, the objectives of monetary policy will necessarily be defined in terms of Community aggregates, that is, a *European* price level and *European* output and employment. The governors of the national central banks, however, will have little interest in Community variables and will be primarily concerned with price stability and output and employment in their own regions.

Realizing that a common monetary policy is not suited to meet regional output and employment targets, the Governing Council will naturally be inclined to give higher priority to the low-inflation target of the common monetary policy than will the ECB Executive Board, which, because it represents a Community institution, will define its responsibilities in terms of Community aggregates. The Executive Board members will therefore push more strongly in the Governing Council for active, discretionary output and employment stabilization at the Community level than will the governors of the national member banks.

¹³ Weighted voting applies to Articles 28 (ECB capital), 29 (subscription to ECB capital), 30 (transfer of foreign reserve assets to the ECB), 32 and 51 (allocation of monetary income of national central banks), and 33 (allocation of net profits and losses of the ECB). Members of the Executive Board have no voting power in these instances, whereas the governors of the national central banks have weights determined by their countries' shares in the subscribed capital of the ECB. Decisions are carried with a two-thirds majority.

The histories of the BBK and the Federal Reserve System provide good examples of the internal conflict between federal and regional interests. In Germany, the Adenauer government pushed strongly for increasing the influence of "central" representation on the BBK Board to gain more influence over German monetary policy when the central-bank act was revised in the mid-1950s (Vaubel, 1991). In the United States, the district-bank presidents generally place less weight on active stabilization policies than do the members of the Federal Reserve Board of Governors (Woolley, 1984, p. 64).

Although the weight of the ECB Board on the Governing Council will be one-third when EMU is complete with twelve EC members, Community interests may be expected to be represented disproportionately before that. Under normal circumstances, the number of ECB Board members will be six; initially, it may be four but no fewer (ECB Statute, Article 50). Should seven countries qualify for Stage Three in 1997—a very optimistic scenario—the weight of the Board on the Governing Council will be no less than 36 percent but perhaps as much as 46 percent. If Stage Three starts in 1999, instead, with fewer than seven members, the Board members might have 50 percent of the votes (6 out of 12) or might even form a majority on the Governing Council. In comparison, there have been either six or seven Executive Board members on the BBK Council since the 1970s, accounting for either 35 or 39 percent of the Council's total votes. Thus, in time, the ECB is likely to be a less federalist institution than the BBK.

Another significant departure for the ECB relates to the determination of central-bank instruments. Article 18.2 of the ECB Statute foresees the establishment of general principles for open-market and credit operations. It allows the ECB to purchase and sell claims and marketable instruments in transactions with virtually anyone—governments, corporations, or individuals. Article 20 of the ECB statute allows the ECB to introduce new methods of monetary control at its own discretion, provided only that they be consistent with "an open market economy with free competition" (Article 2). In contrast, the BBK Act is more restrictive. It limits credit operations to those with credit institutions and permits open-market operations only in certain types of assets. The BBK Act is also more specific than the ECB Statute on minimum-reserve requirements. This greater specificity effectively protects the BBK from pressures of groups attempting to use or invent new instruments—such as cheap refinancing opportunities for government-owned financial institutions—to serve their own financial interests.

The Objective of the Central Bank

The constitutions of both the ECB and the BBK spell out the principal objective of monetary policy and subject this objective to a condition. The ECB Statute, however, is much more specific in this regard than is the BBK Act. Article 2 of the ECB Statute, which repeats Article 103 of the Maastricht Accord, declares price stability to be the primary objective of the ECB. The BBK Act has no such specific provision. Its Article 3 gives the BBK a mandate to safeguard the "stability of the currency," a much broader notion than "price stability." In fact, the authors of the BBK Act made it very clear they did not want to commit the bank specifically to price stability. Although the bank itself interprets its mandate mainly in terms of price stability, it is clear that output and employment stabilization and external considerations are also important. The BBK Act leaves much more room for discretionary policies than does the ECB Statute.

Article 12 of the BBK Act requires the BBK to support the general economic policies of the German government, subject to the requirement of Article 3. Similarly, Article 2 of the ECB Statute requires the ECB to support the "general economic policies in the Community with a view to contributing to the achievement of the objectives of the Community." In the absence of an EC government, however, the Community's objectives for economic policy exist in broad and vague formulations at best: Article 103 of the Maastricht Accord foresees that the Council of Ministers will draft a report describing the "broad guidelines of the economic policies of the Member States and the Community" to be adopted after discussion by the European Council. Thus, the ECB will not find it difficult to defend its own policies against requests to support vague policy goals. The BBK, by contrast, has often been asked to support specific policies to raise output and employment or to support the government's fiscal stance.

Central-Bank Independence

Central-bank independence means that monetary policy can be carried out without government interference and even, if necessary, against the

¹⁴ The relevant parliamentary committee explained that it "did not consider it appropriate to commit the central bank to safeguard the purchasing power of the currency, as it is the case in some foreign laws, because such a commitment might lead to a two-tier economic policy and might also demand too much of the central bank." Bundestagsdrucksache 3603, 28 June 1957, p. 2, cited by Vaubel (1991, p. 5).

wishes of the government. By removing monetary policy from the domain of political interests, the central bank's ability to commit itself to long-run low-inflation policies is improved. ¹⁵ This requires, in addition to institutional independence, personal independence for individual decisionmakers at the central bank.

Institutional independence. One way to sever the link between government and the central bank is to cut off all channels of communication between the central bank and other government agencies; they cannot create mischief if they cannot talk to each other. Although seemingly extreme, this is essentially the solution adopted by the ECB Statute (Article 7, which restates Article 107 of the Maastricht Accord) ruling that neither the ECB nor the national central banks shall seek or take instructions from Community institutions or member governments, and that member governments shall not try to influence the ECB. One interpretation of this ruling is that the ECB Statute was written to accommodate concerns of those countries that had no experience with central-bank independence and that independence rules out neither auditing nor the central bank's requirement to report regularly to the European Parliament, the Council of Ministers, and the European Commission (Article 15). It is easy to see that Article 7 is bound to create problems once a conflict arises between the ECB and the European governments, or between governments, about the proper course of monetary policy. How can one discern the difference between information gathering and consultation with national authorities, the Council of Ministers, and the European Commission—as mandated in Articles 108 and 109 of the Accord—and actions that reflect seeking and taking instructions? By addressing specific activities instead of simply establishing a status (as the BBK Act did), the ECB Statute makes communications between the monetary and political authorities unnecessarily complicated and thus contributes to public uncertainty about monetary policy. In short, the ECB's definition of independence is not fully operational.

¹⁵ Note, however, that independence does not make the central bank an apolitical institution. In a private conversation, Charles Goodhart pointed out to us that an independent central bank is forced to defend its policies continuously against pressure groups and in public debates and to seek coalitions in the political arena; a dependent central bank enjoys the government's protection against direct political attack. In this sense, the position of independent central banks is more political than that of dependent central banks.

Article 109b of the Maastricht Accord allows the president of the Council of Ministers and a member of the Commission to attend meetings of the ECB Governing Council as nonvoting participants; the president may also submit a motion. In Germany, members of the government may attend meetings of the BBK Council, propose motions, and request that decisions be delayed for two weeks. Although the ECB provisions foster greater political independence than the BBK enjoys, they do not entirely immunize the ECB from political influence, for the EC governments can exert pressure on the ECB outside the Governing Council.

An important difference between the Maastricht Accord and German law is in the jurisdiction over the exchange-rate regime. Article 109 of the Accord holds that "the Council [of Ministers] may, acting by unanimity on a recommendation from the ECB or from the Commission, and after consulting the ECB in an endeavour to reach a consensus consistent with the objective of price stability, [and] after consulting the European Parliament, . . . conclude formal agreements on an exchangerate system for the ECU vis-à-vis non-Community currencies." Thus, the initiative for exchange-rate arrangements may come only from the Commission or the ECB itself. The same Article 109 gives the Council the right, with a qualified majority, to set the ECU central rates within an exchange-rate arrangement, yet again on the initiative of either the ECB or the Commission and after consulting the ECB. In the absence of a formal exchange-rate arrangement, the Council may formulate guidelines about the Community's exchange-rate policies consistent with the objective of price stability, again subject to the requirement of a qualified majority after consulting the ECB. Altogether, the Accord gives the ECB a strong role in determining the exchange-rate regime. A politically weak Council will not want to go against the recommendation of the ECB, especially if departing from such a recommendation will publicly compromise price stability.

The BBK's position is, by contrast, weak in this regard. The German finance ministry has the authority to choose the exchange-rate regime without consultation with the BBK. Indeed, this authority was exercised when the EMS was formed in 1978 despite the BBK's explicit concern that Germany's price stability was at risk under the new system. Under both Bretton Woods and the EMS, the BBK and the government have often disagreed on exchange-rate matters, and the BBK has often been forced to tolerate deviations from its low-inflation course (Neumann and von Hagen, 1992). Former German Chancellor H. Schmidt (1990) gives

a different view of the story in his memoirs, in which he writes that he was quite annoyed by the BBK's unwillingness to comply with the wishes of government, for he regarded exchange-rate policies and, in particular, the formation of the EMS as important elements of general foreign and strategic policy. The regulations of the Maastricht Accord give hope that such conflicts and abuses of monetary policy will be rare in EMU.

One important reason for creating an independent central bank is to prevent a government from using the money supply to finance public spending, transfer payments, and tax reductions to interest groups in exchange for votes. One way to achieve this is to keep the central bank from buying "too much" government debt or from overextending credit to government in other ways. The BBK Act limits the extension of credit to the government to small overdrafts and prohibits altogether the purchase of public debt in primary markets. The BBK's ability to finance the government indirectly is limited by the absence of a secondary market for short-term government debt. Purchases of long-term government bonds play only a small role in German money supply.

The ECB Statute goes a step further and prohibits any direct monetary financing to the Community or to national or local governments (Article 21.1). The Maastricht Accord rules that the Community "shall not be liable for or assume the commitments" of member governments (Article 104b), implying that the ECB will not bail out insolvent governments. The ECB shall not extend overdraft credit to national governments or purchase debt instruments directly from them. The ECB may conduct open-market operations, however, for there are no restrictions on the purchase of government debt in secondary markets.

A crucial feature of an independent central bank is that it generates its own revenues and does not rely on a fiscal authority for its operations. The ECB will be constructed in this regard like a private bank. Each national central bank will provide capital (Article 28 and 29) and will transfer foreign assets to the ECB (Article 30), and the property of the ECB will be exempt from all forms of requisition or expropriation. The ECB will earn income on specifically designated assets and will distribute it to the member banks according to their capital shares (Article 32). It will, in sum, be financially independent.

Personal independence. Personal independence relates both to the relations between central bankers and the administrations in office, and to partisanship on the part of the central bankers.¹⁶ The appointment

¹⁶ For example, Waller (1992b) shows that countries with a high degree of nominal wage rigidity (and suffering more output variability than countries with less nominal wage

process is the most important channel for political and partisan influence in this regard. If a government can freely appoint and dismiss board members, the members have good reason to conduct policies in the government's interest. Similarly, in countries where parties alternating in government have different views on monetary policy, the party in power is likely to appoint central bankers who share its ideology.

A prerequisite for personal independence—guaranteed under both the ECB and the BBK—is that the individual central bankers cannot be removed from office for the design and execution of monetary policy. Appointees to the central bank will thus converge more toward the "median central banker," that is, their monetary policies will reflect the median voter's preferences the longer their terms are relative to the government's tenure in office (Waller, 1992). Additional means to ensure independence are nonrenewability of terms, so that board members will not be tempted to defer to the government in power, and staggering of terms, so that all the members are not appointed by the same administration. Staggering has the further benefit of reducing private-sector uncertainty about future policy actions (Waller, 1989). If terms are structured to enforce a gradual turnover in the bank board, the public can reasonably forecast future monetary policy by the policy preferences of the incumbent board members and will not have to guess what a new majority may advocate.

Appointments to the ECB Board will be for eight years without renewal and are made by the European Council "by common accord" after consulting with the Governing Council and the European Parliament. Appointments are staggered (Article 50) by giving the first vice-president a term of four years and the other members of the Board terms of between five and eight years. The national central-bank governors are appointed by the national governments for terms of not less than five years. In contrast, appointments to the BBK Board are for renewable terms of eight years (with a second term granted almost automatically) and are made by the government without consultation with the BBK. Although not staggered by statute, appointments have become staggered over time. The presidents of the land central banks are appointed by the German Upper House, the Bundesrat.

Even in the German case, where two eight-year appointments extend over four regular electoral periods, partisanship has not been fully

rigidity) would have an incentive to appoint a central banker who is more concerned with output stabilization than with inflation reduction.

 $^{^{17}}$ In a remarkable change of traditional practice, the BBK was asked to submit a list of three candidates for the latest appointment to the Board.

excluded (Vaubel, 1991). The Christian Democrats, for example, secured for themselves at least 50 percent of the appointments on the BBK Council from 1962 to 1974 and after 1986, and the Social Democrats had at least 50 percent from 1974 to 1976 and from 1978 to 1981. On the Executive Board, the Christian Democrats had 50 percent of the appointments from 1958 to 1976 and again in 1990. The effect of staggering is illustrated by the fact that the Christian Democrats maintained their majorities for years after leaving government in Bonn in 1969, but it took them five years to regain a majority on the Board and almost a decade to regain a majority on the Council after returning to power in 1982. Vaubel (1991) concludes from his empirical analysis that partisanship has had significant effects on German monetary policy since the 1960s. He finds no evidence, however, of "opportunistic behavior" in the sense of the classical political business cycle, that is, monetary expansions to raise the chances of a government's reelection.

For the ECB, opportunistic behavior and political business cycles are unlikely as long as national elections remain uncoordinated in the Community. The possibility of partisanship in the ECB Board and Governing Council cannot be excluded, however, because the European Council itself consists of party politicians and because party similarities exist across member countries. The length of the term for Governing Council members offers some protection in this regard. At eight years, it is longer than most electoral cycles in the EC, including that of the European Parliament (although those for the French president and British government come close). The provision that the Governing Council must be heard for appointments and the semi-annual rotation of the presidency of the European Council add further protection. Partisanship may, however, develop between the ECB and the political bureaucracy in Brussels, particularly once the European Commission is appointed by the European Parliament rather than by the Council of the Heads of State or Government. In consideration of the fact that inter-national agreements are difficult to amend, it would have been better if the ECB Statute had included stronger safeguards against potentially partisan appointments.

The Excessive-Deficit Procedure

We have argued that central-bank independence requires freedom from any obligation to finance government deficits or monetize public debt.

¹⁸ Specifically, Vaubel (p. 33) tests the hypothesis that, "if the majority in the central-bank council changes in favor of the Federal Government compared with the previous pre-election year, then the rate of monetary expansion increases in the pre-election year; if the majority changes in disfavor of the government, the opposite happens."

Because the central bank remains part of the public sector and governments can change central-bank laws to regain access to monetary financing, such freedom can ultimately be credible only if the government's financial position promises to remain stable. From this perspective, sound fiscal policies (the avoidance of permanent growth of public debt in excess of real income) are a necessary condition for central-bank independence.

The Maastricht Accord recognizes this necessity and includes several provisions regarding fiscal policy in the member countries. Article 104b states that, as a matter of principle, the Community shall not be responsible for any financial obligations incurred by member governments or other public authorities. This same principle is reenforced in the same article, which states also that a member state shall not be liable or assume any kind of public debt of another member state. Member states in a debt crisis will continue, however, to have the right to be bailed out by the Community or by other members.

Yet, the EC is a community of solidarity, and the equalization of standards of living across member states is one of its official goals. This means that the members will likely see it as a moral right, if not a legal obligation, to help a fellow member in financial trouble. Furthermore, policymakers will surely prefer crisis management, including a rise in the rate of monetary expansion in EMU, if the alternative is to impose additional taxes and massive spending cuts on a troubled country. In short, EC membership implicitly provides insurance against debt crisis, a provision that may compromise the quality of EMU. In view of this moral-hazard problem, Article 104c of the Accord introduces an innovation called the "excessive-deficit procedure."

Article 104c commits all members to avoiding excessive government deficits and charges the European Commission with monitoring the budgetary positions of the member governments. Violation of one or more of the reference criteria triggers a fairly complex process. First, the Commission prepares a report to determine whether or not the government deficit of the country involved exceeds its investment spending. The Economic and Financial Committee (the Monetary Committee until Stage Three) then formulates an opinion based on the report. If the Commission finds the deficit to be excessive, it addresses its concern to the Council of Ministers, which, after hearing the government of the country in question, decides by qualified majority whether or not an excessive deficit does indeed exist. If the Council decides that it does, a number of increasingly severe penalties are imposed. First, the Council makes a recommendation. If the country

does not comply, the recommendation is made public. If the country still does not comply, the Council may insist that the country take appropriate policy actions and ask for a timetable for their implementation. If this action also fails, the Council may oblige the country to furnish detailed information and warning statements when issuing new debt; it may ask the European Investment Bank (EIB) to reconsider its lending practices to the country, may ask the country to deposit bail with the EC, or may impose fines. These penalties will be abrogated when the Council decides and publicly states that the deficit problem has been solved. The spirit of these provisions is to reduce the risk of monetization of public debt in EMU by subjecting all member governments to the close scrutiny of the Commission and the Council. Three aspects of the provisions are particularly noteworthy.

First, there is little in the procedure that is automatic. Judgement and discretion are involved at each step to determine whether or not a problem exists or a reaction is adequate. In one sense, the resulting ambiguity of the process is necessary, for there is little empirical or quantitative knowledge about what constitutes sustainability of public debt or deficits. Any numerical criterion must, therefore, be arbitrary. Although the numerical thresholds specified in the relevant protocol are useful as triggers, judgement is essential to prevent the functioning of EMU from becoming overly dependent on a set of more or less random numbers. In another sense, however, the ambiguity of the process invites political bargaining and reduces its value as a safeguard against fiscal profligacy.

Second, it is not clear that penalties, if imposed, can be enforced. The Council of Ministers will find it hard in any case to collect fines imposed on governments that are in financial difficulty, and the Accord does not give the Council the authority to resort to "natural" penalties, such as the suspension of regional and structural funds or funds covered by the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP). Furthermore, European politicians will dislike the prospect of governments having to tell their citizens they must suffer the consequences of austerity programs to satisfy bureaucrats in Brussels. The power of the excessive-deficit procedure to discipline members who willfully disregard the concerns of EMU is, therefore, questionable. An alternative to the questionable threat behind Article 104c would be to reward members in good standing with positive incentives, such as better credit conditions at the EIB, for budgetary processes compatible with stability in EMU.

Third, the Accord gives the Commission a critical role in the future political economy of EMU. Because the Council of Ministers can only

take action upon recommendation by the Commission, and paragraph 10 explicitly excludes a member's right to take another member to the Court of Justice in fiscal matters, the Commission will have the power to decide whether or not a country's fiscal policy is subject to Community scrutiny. Although the Council of Ministers has the power to decide not to act on the Commission's recommendations, the procedure set out is a first step toward centralizing EC fiscal policy under the Commission. Political ties and partisanship between the Commission and national governments will play an important role in the application of the procedure. This role may not be significant as long as the Commission remains remote from the national governments and regards itself as a truly European institution. Once the European Parliament gains more power over the Commission, however, the current procedure risks becoming vulnerable to political considerations and losing its ability to safeguard the financial stability of EMU.

4 The ECB: A European Bundesbank?

In terms of price stability, the BBK has undoubtedly been the most successful European central bank in the past four decades, a success credited to its institutional framework. It is now commonly agreed that price stability should be the most important goal of the ECB. Has, then, the BBK served as a model for the ECB? Is the ECB of the Maastricht Accord simply a tighter edition of the BBK?

The ECB and the BBK share a formal status of independence, similarities in administrative structure, and explicit commitments under conditionality clauses. But the institutions follow two distinct models. The BBK model is restrictive in the choice of instruments, vague in its objective, and has a well-defined conditionality clause. The ECB has an unrestricted choice of instruments, a concrete objective, and a vague conditionality clause. The weight of "central" interests is small and the definition of institutional independence is simple and operational in BBK decisions as compared to the ECB. In addition, the BBK's independence is weakened by its lack of control over the exchange-rate regime and by shortcomings with regard to personal independence. The ECB's position is the opposite.

The ECB will thus have less discretionary power than the BBK to pursue an optimal monetary policy. It can be expected to focus more on price stability and less on output and employment stabilization. For lack of explicit provisions, the ECB will find it harder, in comparison to the BBK, to defend itself against pressures to apply specific instruments and

harder, therefore, to use only those most suitable for its policy. The ECB will be more strongly exposed to political pressures than the BBK is once a common European economic policy follows further political integration. In addition, the Accord relies much more on personal independence than does the BBK, and the control it places on exchange-rate policies reflects the influence of political pressures on European monetary policy.

It is clear that the ECB constitution promises much better outcomes than most existing central-bank constitutions in Europe. The fact that we know little about the empirical link between the constitutions and performances of central banks suggests, however, that the BBK model has less predictive power for the future performance of the ECB than we might have expected. Whether the ECB will match the BBK's success, therefore, remains an open question.

References

- Alesina, Alberto, "Politics and Business Cycles in Industrial Democracies," *Economic Policy*, 8 (April 1989), pp. 55-98.
- Alesina, Alberto, and Vittorio Grilli, "The European Central Bank: Reshaping Monetary Politics in Europe," CEPR Discussion Paper, London, 1991.
- Allen, Polly R., Organization and Administration of a Monetary Union, Princeton Studies in International Finance No. 38, Princeton, N.J., Princeton University, International Finance Section, June 1976.
- Bade, Robin, and Michael Parkin, "Central Bank Laws and Monetary Policy," 1987, processed.
- Bank of England, "Central Banking in Europe," and "The Single Market and Its Implications for Europe's Monetary Arrangements," *Quarterly Bulletin*, 30 (No. 1, February 1990a), pp. 59-67.
- ——, "The United Kingdom's Proposals for Economic and Monetary Union," and "Beyond Stage 1 of EMU," *Quarterly Bulletin*, 30 (No. 3, August 1990b), pp. 374-379.
- Barro, Robert, and David Gordon, "Rules, Discretion and Reputation in a Model of Monetary Policy." *Journal of Monetary Economics*, 12 (1983), pp. 101-121.
- Begg, David, Francesco Giavazzi, Luigi Spaventa, and Charles Wyplosz, "European Monetary Union—The Macro Issues," in David Begg, Pierre-Andre Chiappori, Francesco Giavazzi, Colin Mayer, Damien Niven, Luigi Spaventa, Xavier Vives, and Charles Wyplosz, eds., *Monitoring European Integration: The Making of Monetary Union*, London, Centre for Economic Policy Research, 1991.
- Bishop, Graham, "Public Debt: Credit Spreads or Currency Spreads? A European Perspective," London, Salomon Brothers, 1991, processed.

- Commission of the European Communities, "One Market, One Money," European Economy, No. 44, October 1990.
- ——, "Annual Economic Report, 1990-91," *European Economy*, No. 46, December 1990.
- ——, "Annual Economic Report, 1990-91, Revision," *European Economy*, Supplement A, Recent Economic Trends, No. 6, June 1991.
- Committee for the Study of Economic and Monetary Union, Report on Economic and Monetary Union in the European Community; Collection of Papers Submitted to the Committee for the Study of Economic and Monetary Union [Delors Report], Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1989.
- Committee of Governors of the Central Banks of the Member States of the European Economic Community, Draft Statute of the European System of Central Banks and of the European Central Bank, November 27, 1990.
- Corden, W. Max, Monetary Integration, Essays in International Finance No. 93, Princeton, N.J., Princeton University, International Finance Section, April 1972.
- Council of the European Communities, Interim Report on the Establishing by Stages of Economic and Monetary Union, Supplement to Bulletin 11-1970 of the European Communities, the Werner Group, under the chairmanship of Pierre Werner [Werner Report], Luxembourg, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, 1970.
- De Grauwe, Paul, *The Economics of Monetary Integration*, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1992.
- Demopoulos, George, George Katsimbris, and Stephen Miller, "Monetary Policy and Central Bank Financing of Government Deficits: A Cross-Country Comparison," *European Economic Review*, 31 (No. 5, 1987, pp. 1023-1050.
- Eichengreen, Barry, "Designing a Central Bank for Europe: A Cautionary Tale from the Early Years of the Federal Reserve System," Working Paper, University of California at Berkeley, 1991.
- European Council, Presidency Conclusions, Parts 1 and 2, 1990.
- ——, Amendments to the EEC Treaty—Economic and Monetary Union—as Agreed in the European Council of Maastricht [Maastricht Accord] on December 10, 1991.
- Fratianni, Michele, One Money for Europe, New York, Macmillan, 1978.
- Fratianni, Michele, and Jürgen von Hagen, "The European Monetary System Ten Years After," in Allan H. Meltzer and Charles Plosser, eds., Carnegie-Rochester Conference Series on Public Policy, 32, (1990).
- ——, The European Monetary System and European Monetary Union, Westview, forthcoming (1992).
- Froot, Kenneth A., and Kenneth Rogoff, "The EMS, the EMU, and the Transition to a Common Currency," National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper 3684, Cambridge, Mass., National Bureau of Economic Research, April 1991.

- Giovannini, Alberto, *The Transition to European Monetary Union*, Essays in International Finance No. 178, Princeton, N.J., Princeton University, International Finance Section, November 1990.
- Goodhart, Charles, "The Delors Report: Was Lawson's Reaction Justifiable," London School of Economics, 1989, processed.
- HM Treasury, "An Evolutionary Approach to Economic and Monetary Union," London, November 1989.
- ———, "Economic and Monetary Union—Beyond Stage I, Possible Treaty Provisions and Statute for a European Monetary Fund, Proposals by the UK Government," London, January 1991.
- Kenen, Peter B., "EMU After Maastricht," 1992, processed.
- Key, Sidney J., "A Financial Integration in the European Community," International Finance Discussion Paper No. 349, Washington, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, 1989.
- Krugman, Paul, "A Model of Balance of Payment Crises," *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 11 (1979), pp. 311-325.
- Minford, Patrick, Anupam Rastogi, and Andrew Hughes Hallett, "The Price of EMU," Paper presented at the Konstanz Seminar on Monetary Theory and Policy, Konstanz, May 28-31, 1991.
- Neumann, Manfred J. M., "Precommitment by Central Bank Independence," *Open Economies Review*, 2 (January 1991), pp. 95-112.
- Neumann, Manfred J. M., and Jürgen von Hagen, "Monetary Policy in Germany," in Michele Fratianni and Dominick Salvatore, eds., *Handbook of Monetary Policy*, Greenwood, forthcoming (1992).
- O'Flaherty, Brendan, "The Care and Handling of Monetary Authorities," *Economics and Politics*, 1, 1990.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, *OECD Economic Outlook* 50, December 1991.
- Padoa-Schioppa, Tommaso, "The European Monetary System: A Long-term View," in Francesco Giavazzi, Stefano Micossi, and Marcus Miller, eds., *The European Monetary System*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1988.
- Richards, O. Paul, "The Case for an Evolutionary Stage 2," London, July 31, 1990, processed.
- Rogoff, Kenneth, "The Optimal Degree of Commitment to an Intermediate Monetary Target," *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 100 (No. 4, 1985), pp. 1169-1189.
- Sargent, Thomas, and Neil Wallace, "Some Unpleasant Monetarist Arithmetic," Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis *Economic Review*, 1981.
- Schmidt, Helmut, "Die Bürokraten ausgetrickst" and "Kampf gegen die Nationalisten," *Die Zeit*, August 24, 1990, and August 31, 1990.
- Triffin, Robert, Gold and the Dollar Crisis, New Haven, Yale University Press, 1960.
- Tyrie, Andrew, "A Political Economy of Economic and Monetary Union," 1990, processed.

- Vaubel, Roland, "Die Deutsche Bundesbank als Modell für eine Europäische Zentralbank? Eine Public-Choice Analyse," University of Mannheim, 1991, processed.
- von Hagen, Jürgen, "A Note on the Empirical Effectiveness of Formal Fiscal Restraints," *Journal of Public Economics*, 44 (No. 2, March 1991), pp. 199-210
- ——, "Monetary Policy Coordination in the EMS," in Michele Fratianni and Dominik Salvatore, eds., *Handbook of Monetary Policy*, Greenwood, forthcoming (1992).
- von Hagen, Jürgen, and Michele Fratianni, "Monetary and Fiscal Policy in a European Monetary Union: Some Public Choice Considerations," in Paul J.J. Welffens, ed., *The EMS: From German Dominance to European Monetary Union*, Berlin and New York, Springer, 1990.
- Waller, Christopher J., "Monetary Policy Games and Central Bank Politics," *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking*, 21 (1989), pp. 422-431.
- ——, "A Bargaining Model of Partisan Appointments to the Central Bank," *Journal of Monetary Economics*, June 1992a.
- ——, "The Choice of a Conservative Central Banker in a Multi-Sector Economy," *The American Economic Review*, September 1992b.
- Walters, Alan A., "Currency Boards," in John Eatwell, Murray Milgate, and Peter Newman, eds., *The New Palgrave: A Dictionary of Economics*, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1988, pp. 740-742.
- Woolley, John T., Monetary Politics: The Federal Reserve and the Politics of Monetary Policy, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1984.

PUBLICATIONS OF THE INTERNATIONAL FINANCE SECTION

Notice to Contributors

The International Finance Section publishes papers in four series: ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE, and SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS contain new work not published elsewhere. REPRINTS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE reproduce journal articles previously published by Princeton faculty members associated with the Section. The Section welcomes the submission of manuscripts for publication under the following guidelines:

ESSAYS are meant to disseminate new views about international financial matters and should be accessible to well-informed nonspecialists as well as to professional economists. Technical terms, tables, and charts should be used sparingly; mathematics should be avoided.

STUDIES are devoted to new research on international finance, with preference given to empirical work. They should be comparable in originality and technical proficiency to papers published in leading economic journals. They should be of medium length, longer than a journal article but shorter than a book.

SPECIAL PAPERS are surveys of research on particular topics and should be suitable for use in undergraduate courses. They may be concerned with international trade as well as international finance. They should also be of medium length.

Manuscripts should be submitted in triplicate, typed single sided and double spaced throughout on 8½ by 11 white bond paper. Publication can be expedited if manuscripts are computer keyboarded in WordPerfect 5.1 or a compatible program. Additional instructions and a style guide are available from the Section.

How to Obtain Publications

The Section's publications are distributed free of charge to college, university, and public libraries and to nongovernmental, nonprofit research institutions. Eligible institutions may ask to be placed on the Section's permanent mailing list.

Individuals and institutions not qualifying for free distribution may receive all publications for the calendar year for a subscription fee of \$35.00. Late subscribers will receive all back issues for the year during which they subscribe. Subscribers should notify the Section promptly of any change in address, giving the old address as well as the new.

Publications may be ordered individually, with payment made in advance. ESSAYS and REPRINTS cost \$6.50 each; STUDIES and SPECIAL PAPERS cost \$9.00. An additional \$1.25 should be sent for postage and handling within the United States, Canada, and Mexico; \$1.50 should be added for surface delivery outside the region.

All payments must be made in U.S. dollars. Subscription fees and charges for single issues will be waived for organizations and individuals in countries where foreign-exchange regulations prohibit dollar payments.

Please address all correspondence, submissions, and orders to:

International Finance Section Department of Economics, Fisher Hall Princeton University Princeton, New Jersey 08544-1021

List of Recent Publications

A complete list of publications may be obtained from the International Finance Section.

ESSAYS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 156. Sebastian Edwards, The Order of Liberalization of the External Sector in Developing Countries. (December 1984)
- 157. Wilfred J. Ethier and Richard C. Marston, eds., with Kindleberger, Guttentag and Herring, Wallich, Henderson, and Hinshaw, *International Financial Markets and Capital Movements: A Symposium in Honor of Arthur I. Bloomfield.* (September 1985)
- 158. Charles E. Dumas, The Effects of Government Deficits: A Comparative Analysis of Crowding Out. (October 1985)
- 159. Jeffrey A. Frankel, Six Possible Meanings of "Overvaluation": The 1981-85 Dollar. (December 1985)
- 160. Stanley W. Black, Learning from Adversity: Policy Responses to Two Oil Shocks. (December 1985)
- 161. Alexis Rieffel, The Role of the Paris Club in Managing Debt Problems.
 (December 1985)
- 162. Stephen E. Haynes, Michael M. Hutchison, and Raymond F. Mikesell, Japanese Financial Policies and the U.S. Trade Deficit. (April 1986)
- 163. Arminio Fraga, German Reparations and Brazilian Debt: A Comparative Study. (July 1986)
- Jack M. Guttentag and Richard J. Herring, Disaster Myopia in International Banking. (September 1986)
- 165. Rudiger Dornbusch, Inflation, Exchange Rates, and Stabilization. (October 1986)
- 166. John Spraos, IMF Conditionality: Ineffectual, Inefficient, Mistargeted. (December 1986)
- Rainer Stefano Masera, An Increasing Role for the ECU: A Character in Search of a Script. (June 1987)
- 168. Paul Mosley, Conditionality as Bargaining Process: Structural-Adjustment Lending, 1980-86. (October 1987)
- 169. Paul Volcker, Ralph Bryant, Leonhard Gleske, Gottfried Haberler, Alexandre Lamfalussy, Shijuro Ogata, Jesús Silva-Herzog, Ross Starr, James Tobin, and Robert Triffin, *International Monetary Cooperation: Essays in Honor of Henry C. Wallich*. (December 1987)

°Publications marked by an asterisk are out of print. They are available on demand in xerographic paperback or library-bound copies from University Microfilms International, 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, Michigan 48106, USA, or 30-32 Mortimer St., London, WIN 7RA, England. Microfilm of all Essays by year is available from University Microfilms. Photocopied sheets of out-of-print titles are available from the Section at \$9.00 per Essay and \$11.00 per Study or Special Paper, plus \$1.25 for domestic (\$1.50 for overseas) postage and handling.

- 170. Shafiqul Islam, The Dollar and the Policy-Performance-Confidence Mix. (July 1988)
- 171. James M. Boughton, *The Monetary Approach to Exchange Rates: What Now Remains?* (October 1988)
- 172. Jack M. Guttentag and Richard M. Herring, Accounting for Losses On Sovereign Debt: Implications for New Lending. (May 1989)
- 173. Benjamin J. Cohen, Developing-Country Debt: A Middle Way. (May 1989)
- 174. Jeffrey D. Sachs, New Approaches to the Latin American Debt Crisis. (July 1989)
- 175. C. David Finch, The IMF: The Record and the Prospect. (September 1989)
- 176. Graham Bird, Loan-loss Provisions and Third-World Debt. (November 1989)
- 177. Ronald Findlay, The "Triangular Trade" and the Atlantic Economy of the Eighteenth Century: A Simple General-Equilibrium Model. (March 1990)
- 178. Alberto Giovannini, The Transition to European Monetary Union. (November 1990)
- 179. Michael L. Mussa, Exchange Rates in Theory and in Reality. (December 1990)
- 180. Warren L. Coats, Jr., Reinhard W. Furstenberg, and Peter Isard, *The SDR System and the Issue of Resource Transfers*. (December 1990)
- 181. George S. Tavlas, On the International Use of Currencies: The Case of the Deutsche Mark. (March 1991)
- 182. Tommaso Padoa-Schioppa, ed., with Michael Emerson, Kumiharu Shigehara, and Richard Portes, *Europe after 1992: Three Essays*. (May 1991)
- Michael Bruno, High Inflation and the Nominal Anchors of an Open Economy. (June 1991)
- 184. Jacques J. Polak, The Changing Nature of IMF Conditionality. (September 1991)
- 185. Ethan B. Kapstein, Supervising International Banks: Origins and Implications of the Basle Accord. (December 1991)
- 186. Alessandro Giustiniani, Francesco Papadia, and Daniela Porciani, *Growth and Catch-Up in Central and Eastern Europe: Macroeconomic Effects on Western Countries*. (April 1992)
- 187. Michele Fratianni, Jürgen von Hagen, and Christopher Waller, *The Maastricht Way to EMU*. (June 1992)

PRINCETON STUDIES IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- *54. Jeffrey Sachs, Theoretical Issues in International Borrowing. (July 1984)
- 55. Marsha R. Shelburn, Rules for Regulating Intervention under a Managed Float. (December 1984)
- 56. Paul De Grauwe, Marc Janssens and Hilde Leliaert, Real-Exchange-Rate Variability from 1920 to 1926 and 1973 to 1982. (September 1985)
- Stephen S. Golub, The Current-Account Balance and the Dollar: 1977-78 and 1983-84. (October 1986)
- 58. John T. Cuddington, Capital Flight: Estimates, Issues, and Explanations. (December 1986)
- Vincent P. Crawford, International Lending, Long-Term Credit Relationships, and Dynamic Contract Theory. (March 1987)
- 60. Thorvaldur Gylfason, Credit Policy and Economic Activity in Developing Countries with IMF Stabilization Programs. (August 1987)

- 61. Stephen A. Schuker, American "Reparations" to Germany, 1919-33: Implications for the Third-World Debt Crisis. (July 1988)
- 62. Steven B. Kamin, Devaluation, External Balance, and Macroeconomic Performance: A Look at the Numbers. (August 1988)
- 63. Jacob A. Frenkel and Assaf Razin, Spending, Taxes, and Deficits: International-Intertemporal Approach. (December 1988)
- 64. Jeffrey A. Frankel, Obstacles to International Macroeconomic Policy Coordination. (December 1988)
- 65. Peter Hooper and Catherine L. Mann, *The Emergence and Persistence of the U.S. External Imbalance*, 1980-87. (October 1989)
- 66. Helmut Reisen, Public Debt, External Competitiveness, and Fiscal Discipline in Developing Countries. (November 1989)
- 67. Victor Argy, Warwick McKibbin, and Eric Siegloff, Exchange-Rate Regimes for a Small Economy in a Multi-Country World. (December 1989)
- 68. Mark Gersovitz and Christina H. Paxson, *The Economies of Africa and the Prices of Their Exports*. (October 1990)
- 69. Felipe Larraín and Andrés Velasco, Can Swaps Solve the Debt Crisis? Lessons from the Chilean Experience. (November 1990)
- 70. Kaushik Basu, The International Debt Problem, Credit Rationing and Loan Pushing: Theory and Experience. (October 1991)
- 71. Daniel Gros and Alfred Steinherr, Economic Reform in the Soviet Union: Pas de Deux between Disintegration and Macroeconomic Destabilization. (November 1991)
- 72. George M. von Furstenberg and Joseph P. Daniels, Economic Summit Declarations, 1975-1989: Examining the Written Record of International Cooperation. (February 1992)

SPECIAL PAPERS IN INTERNATIONAL ECONOMICS

- Gene M. Grossman and J. David Richardson, Strategic Trade Policy: A Survey of Issues and Early Analysis. (April 1985)
- 16. Elhanan Helpman, Monopolistic Competition in Trade Theory. (June 1990)

REPRINTS IN INTERNATIONAL FINANCE

- 25. Jorge Braga de Macedo, Trade and Financial Interdependence under Flexible Exchange Rates: The Pacific Area; reprinted from Pacific Growth and Financial Interdependence, 1986. (June 1986)
- 26. Peter B. Kenen, The Use of IMF Credit; reprinted from Pulling Together: The International Monetary Fund in a Multipolar World, 1989. (December 1989)
- 27. Peter B. Kenen, Transitional Arrangements for Trade and Payments Among the CMEA Countries; reprinted from *International Monetary Fund Staff Papers* 38 (2), 1991. (July 1991)

The work of the International Finance Section is supported in part by the income of the Walker Foundation, established in memory of James Theodore Walker, Class of 1927. The offices of the Section, in Fisher Hall, were provided by a generous grant from Merrill Lynch & Company.

[Page 46 blank]